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The President's Page 

R
ICHARD DOUGHERTY LOGAN, president of the Historical So­
ciety of Northwestern Ohio, died at the Toledo Hospital on De­
cember 13, 1949. He had been under treatment for a heart aU­

ment for several weeks. Funeral services were held on December I :) 
at the Bennett Funeral Home followed by interment at Woodlawn Ceme­
tery. 

We of the Historical Society will miss Richard Logan. He h:l.S p~ided 

over our affairs in a time when our work has reached the point of its 
g reatest effectiveness. He became president in the spring of 1942. That 
was the same Spring in which Dr. Curtis W . Garrison assumed the duties 
of secretary and editor. Together the two made a splendid team. The 
format of the QUARTERLY was improved, its size enlarged and its articles 
made more scholarly. The membership of the Society grew and memo 
bers took a more active part in its ,lctivities. Eventually in 19-1 7 the 
Society was enabled to undertake a larger research program through an· 
nual appropriations from the &ard of County Commissioners of Lucas 
County. 
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The President'! Page 

In all these good works Richard Logan was the guiding spiri t and 
counsellor. H is office became the record headquarters of the Society 
and he himself an active participating president. H e was always gen­
erous with h is time even though the burden of business and legal af­
fairs fell increasingly upon him. He contributed articles to the QUAR­

TERLY and inaugurated the President's Page, a series of essays on the 
history and interpretation of the United States Constitution of which he 
was a keen student. In the negotiations leading to the appropriations l>y 
thc County Comm issioners his influence and activity was of vital impor­
tance. 

Bchind Ridlard l o.can's interest in our Society was a fine knowledge 
and understanding of American History. This interest dated back to 
his days at Ohio State Un iversity from which he graduated in 1904 
with the honor of membership in Phi Beta Kappa. At Ohio State he ma­
jored in history studying under such scholars as George \X1ells Knight 
and Wilbur Siebert. It was the knowledge of the value of scientific bis­
torical scholarship resulting from this college training that made him an 
ideal person to guide the Society into the status of a nationally recognized 
research organization in local history. 

Richard Logan was an excellent Jiaison person between the Society 
and the Community. He was always transmitting his enthusiasm for the 
Society to others and bringing in new members. H is reputation for pro­
bi ty and sound progress made as an outstanding member of the Toledo 
bar was a great asset to the Society. Above all was his habit of thor­
oughness and industry which he applied unstintingly to his own business 
affairs and which led him to recognize the same qual ity in others. Those 
who worked with him to promote the Society's activities were always 
heartened by his appreciation of the pains taken to keep its productions 
up to the highest standards. 

This is not the last of Richard Logan's pages. His signature may no 
longer appear at the end of his President's Page but a signature not writ­
ten with his hand will be recognized for years to come in the history of 
northwestern Ohio. He was one of those of whom the poet Spender 
wrote: 

Born of the sun they travelled a fhort white toward the Jrm 
And telt the vivid air signed with their honor. 
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The PreJident's Page 

In his first President's Page (April, 1942 ) Richard logan wrote: 

No citizen can he cOl/Sidered well educated who does not possess 
a fairly accurate knowledge of hislory, and especially of the hislor· 
ical background of the community in which he lives. Let liS keep 
ollr knowledge in repair. 

We of northwestern Ohio should never fo rget these words. Vistas 
which Richard logan caught of the splendid past of our valley- which 
many of us felt as we stood with him before his high· powered telescope 
in his office high in the Toledo Trust Building looking out over the 
opening gateway of Maumee Bay, must never be lost. Our history is im· 
portant- local as well as national-local because through it we can see 
beyond the horizon on the Bay on into the great expanse that is our na­
tion and our world. 

Yes, Richard Logan, we will keep our knowledge in repan. 

RANDOLPH C. DOWNES. 

7 

• 



The War of 1812 In Northwestern Ohio 
Background and Causes 

By W . M. H EFLCNGER 

1. Northwnlern Ohio in 18 12 

The tcrm "Northwestern Ohio", as used in this essay, means that por­
tion of the State west of the "FireJands" and the "Congress Lands" of 
1799-\804 and north of the forti eth parallel. This includes approx­
imately one fourth of the area of Ohio. The Greenville Treaty line di· 
vided this region, setting off as Indian territory that portion lying north 
of the line,l 

The surface of this region varies gradua lly from low and flat along 
Lake Eric to gently rolling in the southern par t. The low watershed, 
scarcely d iscernible, that separates the basins of Lake Erie and the Ohio 
River runs an irregular course nOrth of the Greenville line. To the 
south of the divide the Scioto, Mad, and Great Miami rivers and their 
tributaries rise and start their courses toward the Ohio. The northern 
section is crossed by two large rivers, the Sandusky and Maumee, with the 
shallow Portage about midway between them. The Maumee in 18 12 was 
navigable to ships of any size to the foot of the rapids, some twelve miles 
above its mouth-opposite the present villages of Perrysbu rg and Mau­
mee. These rapids continue fo r about nine miles, above which the river 
is again navigable for sm:dl craft. The Maumee and its principal tribu­
tary. the Auglaizc, formed one of the principal routes of travel. Thus 
the portage around the rapids became a place of ~trategic value.2 

The Sandusky was navigable to the foot of the lower rapids, the pres­
ent site of Fremont. Above the rapids small boats could continue with­
out interruption to the upper rapids, where Upper Sandusky is now lo­
cated. With portages at the two sets of rapids canoes could travel the 
Sandusky and little Sandusky to within three-fourths of a mile of the 
headwaters of the Scioto. Since the Sandusky reaches farthe r south than 
any other river in the entire Great Lakes system, and since the portage 
between the Sandusky and Scioto was the shortest and easiest, this route 
was the principal one used by the Indians and French.a 
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The War 01 1812 in Northwestern Ohio- Background and Callses 

Waterways are always valuable as means of travel ill a frontier coun­
try, but in this region they assumed an additional importance, because a 
part of northwestern Ohio was then swampy. There were many of these 
boggy places, but the most noted of all was the "Black Swamp" which 
lay between the Sandusky and Maumee. It was about thirty-five to 
forty miles wide and from a hundred to one hundred twenty miles long. 
These swamps were passable with reasonable ease only late in dry sum­
mers before the autumn rains set in or in mid-winter when frozen over. 
Thus most travel was, of necessity, by water. 4 

\Vhen the War of 1812 opened there was not a single mile of road 
in northwestern Ohio. The nearest approach to roads were the Indian 
trails, of which there were a number. Wherever possible these trails 
followed such high ground as there was, for the higher places were less 
boggy in summertime and less likely to have deep drifted snow in win­
tertime. Thus the north-south trails followed the river courses along 
the low ridges that usually formed the rims of the flood plains. Near 
Lake Erie the east-west trails followed the low, sandy ridges roughly 
paralleling the shore line. These ridges had been left by the retreat of 
the ancient glacial lake of that region. The principal east-west route 
was the "Great Trail" from Pittsburgh to Detroit via the lower rapids 
of the Sandusky and the Maumee rapids. The Sandusky-Scioto tmil 
from Lake Erie to the Ohio River was the most important north-south 
route. It followed the courses of the rivers indicated by its name.~ 

Northwestern Ohio was almost wholly uninhabited by white people in 
1812. There were a few scattered settlements south of the Greenville 
line. North of this Ene there were only two centers of settlement. One 
was about the mouth of the Maumee, the present site of Toledo. This 
was described as a flourishing settlement of perhaps three score famil ies, 
who wete mostly French . The other settlement was at Sandusky, now 
Fremont, at the foot of the lower rapids of the Sandusky River and at 
the intersection of the Sandusky-Scioto and "Great" trails. This settle­
ment consisted of a Frendl Catholic mission with two priests, a United 
States Government fur trading post, and a few cabins. Scattered sur­
vivors of the earlier French settlement there occupied various places along 
the lower Sandusky valley. There were also a few white traders around 
Defiance and at other points along the Maumee and Auglaize. These 
few white people residing north of the Greenville line were within In­
dian territory and hence had no representation in the State Legislature.6 
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The War of 1812 in Northwestern Ohio-&ckgrollnd and Cames 

The Indian population of the territory north of the Greenville line 
was estimated at about three thousand, capable of raising about six or 
seven hundred warriors. They belonged to many tribles, chiefly of Al­
gonquin stock except the Wyandots and Senecas who wefe Iroquoyan. 
Practically all of them were comparative newcomers to this region, hav­
ing been dislodged from their original homes by inter-tribal wars or by 
pressure from white settlement. The one exception to this were the 
Miamis who inhabited a portion of their ancestral hunting grounds about 
the Maumee and \Vabash in Ohio and Indiana. Some of the fie rce Shaw­
nees were settled about the headwaters of the St. Mary's and Auglaize. 
Thei r principal village was Wapakoneta. Harrison characterized them 
as honest and upright. Tecumseh and his brother, The Prophet, belong­
ed to this group, although the principal scene of their activities was in 
the Wabash country. Ottawas lived near the lower stretches of the Au ­
glaize and llIanchard rivers. DciawaJes were located about the upper 
Scioto and Olentangy. A part of the Seneca Nation had moved from 
western New York to the Sandusky valley a few years previous to the 
War. Their principal village, Seneca Town, was on the present site of 
the village of Old Fort. They settled on lands belonging to the \Vyan­
dots.' 

There wefe two branches or divisions of the Wyandots, one in Michi· 
gan inhabiting a series of villages stretching some twenty miles between 
Detroit and Brownstown on the Huron River. Walk-in-the-Water was 
their principal chief, and Roundhead was their war leader. The other, 
or "neutral", branch inhabited the Sandusky valley. This tribe was not 
numerous, but it was the most powerful and influential of the Ohio In­
dians. They were described as the boldest, strongest, and most intelligent 
of all the northern Indians. They were fiercc in war ; in fact it was fre­
quently stated that they were the only Indians of the Northwest who 
considered it a disgrace to retreat from battle. Yet they were merciful 
and humane to prisoners. They kept the grand calumet which was the 
symbol of authority th roughout the Northwest. Their principal village 
was at "Sandusky", now Fremont. They carried on a flourishing agri­
culture, partly by the use of Negro slaves. The principal chief of the 
Sandusky W yandots was Tarhe, "The Crane", "a venerable, intelligent, 
and upright man." Shetrone, an authority on the subject, rates Tarhe as 
the g reatest chieftain of Ohio. This is indeed an outstanding tribute, for 
the list of Ohio Indians includes the Delaware Prophet, Pontiac, Leather­
lips, Logan, Little Turtle, Corn Planter, the Half-King, Tecumseh, the 
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Shawnee Prophet, Seneca John, and numerous others welJ known to white 
men.!' 

There were also a few scattered remnants of other tribes. A group of 
Muncies, relatives of the Delawares, lived along the Sandusky below the 
principal Wyandot village, and the site of their settlement is still known 
locally as '"Muncie Hollow". Small bands of Mohawks, Mohicans, Min· 
goes, and Cayugas were present also. Eventually they attached them· 
selves to the Senecas, and this group was known collectively as the "San · 
dusky Senecas." 

2. Pllblii Opimoll in Ohio 

In order to understand the frontiersmen's reactions to the events that 
led to the \Var of Ul12, it is necessary to examine briefly the background 
of public opinion and some of the factors molding it. Since northwest· 
ern Ohio was almost uninhabited by white settlers, it is necessary to look 
to the more settled parts of the State fo r these reactions. 

The first wave of migration into the Ohio country followed the Revo· 
lutionary War. These first sett lers were generally men who had spent 
thei r prime in the Revolution, or were the sons of Revolutionary patriots 
whose fo rtunes were crushed in that struggle. They retired to the wil· 
derness to concea l thei r poverty- to get a new start in the hope of im­
proving their conditions. To these were added a number of adventure 
seekers. Economic difficulties, instead of being removed, were multi­
plied, once these people became established on the frontier. At first the 
government sold land in large blocks to land companies who in turn sold 
it to the settlers, usually on credit . Increasing difficulties rendered many 
of the buyers unable to meet the payments. Burnet: estimated that fully 
ninety per cent of those who bought land on credit stood to lose thei r 
holdings. This caused fear that a system of landlordism, instead of in· 
d ividual hold ings, would result, and this condition was intolerable to these 
independent frontiersmen. A violent wave of dissatisfaction with the 
government spread rapid ly. A new land policy was demanded. W hile 
Harrison served as territorial delegate to Congress he successfu lly urged 
the sale of land to actual settlers in smaller parcels on easy terms. AI· 
though the cause was removed, the fear, insecu ri ty, and bitterness had to 
wear off g radually.!' 

The Mississippi was the natural outlet for saleable products from the 
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The Waf of 1812 in Northwestern Ohio-Background and Causes 

Ohio country. The solicitude over closi ng the Mississippi- which further 
increased their econom ic problcms--caused anger not only against Spai'l 
but also against the East. In addition to the problem of the navigation of 
the Mississippi, Spain was charged with inciting the Ind ians to attacks on 
the frontier. Immediate war was urged in the West. When the National 
Government attempted to untangle the problem by diplomatic means ra· 
ther than by force and restrained the proposed expedition against N ew 
Orleans, it was charged that the East had entered into a conspiracy to de­
prive the West of its rights. The West felt isolated, abandoned, and 
thwarted. Secession was threatened . Then the difficulties with France 
following the ratification of jay's T reaty made France temporarily assume 
the role of villain. A new enemy appeared on the scene, and more ex­
citemcnt stirred the frontier. The cessation of hostilities with Francc and 
the subsequent purchase of Louisiana removed these sources of irritation, 
but the bitterness and suspicion were not assuaged immediate!y.lo 

The British held a group of American posts in violation of the provi­
sions of the Treaty of Paris and even constructed a new fort at the Mau­
mee rapids. This was not only evidence of unfriendliness on the part of 
the British, but it put them in a position of influence with the Indians 
and permitted British traders to dominate the valuable for trade. The 
restlessness of tbe Indians and their determination to resist further en­
croachments of the Americans was thus laid at the door of the British. It 
was far easier to blame the British for this trouble than to sec it as the 
inevitable result of their own expansion and the activities of "unprin­
cipled, wandering traders, wholly unconnected with the pioneer settlers" 
who sold liquor to the Ind ians and systematically robbed them. It is cer­
tain, however, that the British were in sympathy with the Indians' deter­
mination to resist the "designs of this persevering rapacious and ambiti­
ous people", and there is evidence that the British supplied not only arms 
and ammunition but also white auxiliaries who participated in the Bat· 
tie of Fallen Timbers. It was charged that the British did not intend to 
give up the Northwest. Wayne's victory at fallen T imbers and Jay's 
Treaty tempora rily removed the British and Indian threat, but again the 
fear and hatred remained. II 

The Republican pa rty- that is, the then Republican or Jeffersonian 
party- found warm support in the West. The federa lists were consid­
ered aristocrats. The frontiersmen, with their democratic spirit and 
economic difficulties, could brook no pretensions of aristocracy. The 
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opposition to the Federalists was increased by the dissatisfaction with 
the government. TIle members of the territorial administration were Fed­
eralists, appointees of Washington and Adams. The Republicans, unable 
to secure control of the territorial government, and further irritated hy 
Governor St. Clair·s arbitrary acts, launched a demand for statehood. This 
was vigorously opposed by the members of the territorial administration, 
their friends, and political satellites. Political differences were brought 
to fever heat; prejud ices, passions, suspicions, and enmity were aroused 
that continued for years. 12 

Still another factor was the activity of Aaron Burr. The general pub· 
lie did not know definitely what Burr's plans and objects were, but the 
Ohio settler believed he intended to detach a portion of the Mississippi 
Valley, 

. wickedly devising and intending the peace and tranquility of 
the said United States to distllrb and stir, move, and excite insllrrec- . 

. liol1, rebellion and war against the said United States. 

The suspicion that ·Burr was connected with British agents increased the 
resentments. Contemporary travelers reported that Burr was the chief 
topic of conversation in the West. The reaction of the frontier to the 
Burr episode was additional anger against Great Britain and the spread of 
a wave of blatant nationalism.u 

From the foregoing it is evident that the people of Ohio were in a 
chronic state of excitement, difficulty, fear, irritation, anger, frustration 
and resentment. This explains the violence of their reaction to the In­
dian-Canadian situation. 

3. The Indiall Problem 

The Indian problem in the Northwest during the decade preceding 
the War of 18 12 was neither new nor difficult to account for. The War 
was the fina l chapter in a long history of conflict in the Northwest that 
was the inevitable result of the impact of two races so different in mode 
of life, economy, culture, tradition, and conception of land tenure. 

The Indian population of the Northwest at this time was perhaps less 
than fifteen thousand, capable of raising somewhat less than three thou­
sand warriors. They belonged to several tribes, among the more impor­
tant of which were Kickapoos, Delawares, Shawnees, Pottawottamies, 
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The War of 1812 in Northwestern Ohio-Background and Causes 

Wyandots, Ottawas, Sacs and Foxes, Chippewas, Winnebagoes, and 
Miamis. There were also Weas, Eel Rivers, and Piankeshaws, who were 
really branches of the Miamis.H 

Those Indians closest to the white tettlements and most accessible to 
the traders were in a sorry plight. They were crowded, especially in In­
diana, and that meant less hunting ground. As the wave of white set­
tle~ent advanced the supply of game decreased rapidly, for "one white 
hunter will destroy more game than five of the common Indians." As 
game became scarce hunger and even starvation became prevalent. Un­
principled, greedy traders found these Indians easy prey, especially when 
a plentiful supply of liquor was at hand, for ... 

whiskey was an all important factor in the fur trade. Not only did 
a drunken Indian lose all sense of value but once reduced to a stu­
por it was easy to short-weight him. 

Harrison stated that six thousand gallons of whiskey were brought an­
nually to the Indians of the Wabash Valley, who numbered probably six 
hundred warriors. White men's diseases, once introduced among the 
Indians, took a terrific toll.l5 

The Indians of the, more distant tribes of the Northwest had not yet 
been contaminated by the march of "civilization". They were "generally 
well clothed, healthy and vigorous." But those close to the borders of 
settlement were "half-naked, filthy and enfeebled with Intoxication." 
They were abused and plundered with impunity. Their health and birth 
rate declined. Above all, they lost their self-respect and dignity.ltl 

President Jefferson was as land-hungry as any frontiersman. Through­
out his administration he pursued a policy of extinguishing Indian claims 
as rapidly as possible. Harrison, ever anxious to please his patron, exe­
cuted the policy with avidity. Within a period of two and a half years 
eight distinct treaties were made with the Northwestern IndiansP 

Despite Harrison's conscientious efforts to ameliorate the Indians' 
condition by prohibiting the sale or gift of liquor to them, by forbidding 
traders to follow the Indians on hunting expeditions, and by long re­
ports deploring conditions; despite Jefferson's rosy outlook that 

they are becoming sensible that the earth yields subsistence with 
less labor and more certainty than the forest, and find it to their in-
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teres! from time to time to dispose of parts of their surplus and waste 
lands for the means of improving those they occupy and of subsisting 
their families while they are preparing their farms 

this land policy and the manifestation of it in the series of treaties caus­
ed a growing restlessness that was apparent by 1805 or 1806.18 

It has been said that the War of 1812 centers around three Indians: 
Tecumseh, the Prophet, and Tarhe. Certainly all played important parts. 
Tecumseh and Elskwatawa, his brother, better known as "The Prophet", 
were Shawnees born about 1768-70 near the present site of Springfield, 
Ohio. Tecumseh was ten or twelve years old when his village was de­
stroyed by an expedition led by George Rogers Clark. Randall stated 
that this act, which Tecumseh witnessed, made an indelible impression on 
the youth, and that he vowed eternal opposition to the further advance 
of white settlers.19 

The Prophet came into prominence earlier (about 1804) than did 
Tecumseh. The Prophet's aims originally were neither political nor mili­
tary, but were religious, ethical, and economic and grew out of the real­
ization of the bad influence of the impact of the whites on the Indians. 
The policy sounded simple. It was to stop drinking liquor, forsake the 
ways of the white man, and re-adopt their ancestral mode of life. This 
is strongly reminiscent of the doctrines of the Delaware Prophet of the 
period 1760-63. This is not strange, for the Indians were superstitious, 
and "prophets" appeared among them from time to time. The Shawnee 
Prophet gained many adherents, and they actually practiced at least a 
part of his teachings. 2o 

But Tecumseh, smarting under the land sessions of 1803-05, decided 
that more direct action was necessary. He planned a general confeder­
acy of all Indians to stop forever the encroachments of the white race. 
He proposed to establish the Ohio River as a permanent boundary be­
tween the! races and that land sales must be made by the consent of all 
Indians rather than by Individual tribes. Tecumseh traveled from the 
Great Lakes to Florida urging the Indians to join the proposed confed­
eracy.21 

Throughout the period 1805-1811 Tecumseh and Harrison played a 
game of diplomatic tag. Harrison was alternately alarmed and reassured; 
he was striving conscientiously to avert a break when he received in­
structions to acquire more land. It is doubtful whether Jefferson real-
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ized the consequences of such a step at that time, for he was apparently 
sincere in his professions of a desire for peace. Harrison, striving to 
please, negotiated a treaty at Fort Wayne by which Indian claims were ex­
tinguished to two million nine hundred thousand acres. Another with 
the Kickapoos followed shortly. Meanwhile Governor Hull negotiated 
treaties at Detroit and Brownstown. 22 

This new series of land acquisitions was considered by Tecumseh to 
be a direct challenge, and he accepted it as such. His cause was strength­
ened considerably. Some of the younger braves demanded war at once, 
but Tecumseh held them in check. He wanted to wait until his confed­
eracy could be completed. Meanwhile he was indefatigable in collect­
ing warriors, perfecting this confederacy scheme, and generally prepar­
ing for war. A great drought and premature frost in 1811 made crops 
short and game scarce. Hunger increased the restlessness of the In­
dians.23 

While Tecumseh was on a mission to the southern Indians the im­
pending conflict materialized at Tippecanoe, November 7, 1811. In ~o 
far as Indian relations were concerned, this was really the first battle of 
the War of 1812. It was the immediate and direct result of the land 
acquisitions of Harrison and Hull. While usually regarded as an Amer­
ican victory, Tippecanoe was not an overwhelming one. It did not crush 
the Indian opposition. It did, however, seriously interfere with Te­
cumseh's plans. From his point of view the conflict had been premature. 
The Prophet's influence was greatly weakened by his part in the battle.24 

4. The Hand of Great Britain 

During these troubled relations with the Indians of the Northwest the 
pioneer saw or suspected the hand of Great Britain behind the scenes. 
Great Britain was naturally a villain to the frontiersmen and the exper­
iences of the 1790's had not been forgotten. Hamson's correspondence 
is full of charges that British agents were fomenting trouble, and that 
the Prophet was in constant communication with the British at Fort Mal­
den. William Wells wrote to him in 1807: 

It is my opinion that the British are at the bottom of all this Busi­
ness and depend on it that if we have war with them that many of 
the Indian tribes will take an active part against us ... 25 

In the spring of 1808 Harrison reported that the Delawares had re­
ceived a communication from the British stating that hostilities against 
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the United States were anticipated and asking the Delawares to join with 
them. The Delawares refused. In the autumn of the same year Har­
rison reported the presence of British traders, who were without licens­
es. They were insolent and were well supplied with whiskey. By 1810 

Harrison stated that no frontiersman 

will hesitate to believe that the Prophet is a tool of British fears or 
British avarice, designed for the purpose of forming a combination 
of the Indians, which in case of war between that power and the 
United States may assist them in the defense of Canada, or as a 
means of keeping back our settlements ... 26 

Harrison was not alone in attributing the Indians' unrest to the British. 
Governors Hull and Clark were sending in similar reports from Michigan 
and Missouri. Soon not only the whole frontier, but also official Wash­
ington was stirred by these statements.27 

5. The Demand for Canada 

As early as 1807 war with Great Britain was anticipated, but defensive 
measures only were then considered. But when the Twelfth Congress 
convened in the late fall of 1811, a new note was struck. The conquest 
of Canada was boldly and insistently demanded.28 

The demand for Canada was a complex: matter of long, slow growth. 
In 1778 Washington said of the acquisition of Canada: 

It is much to be wished ... Because of its intercourse and connexion 
with the numerous tribes of western Indians, its communion with 
them by water and other local advantages, it will be at least a trouble­
some if not a dangerous neighbor to us; and ought, at all events, 
to be in the same interest and politics, as the other States. 

The belief in the ultimate annexation of Canada had a continuous ex­
istence from the Revolution to the War of 1812, but until about 1810 

such annexation was thought of as a matter for the indefinite future, the 
United States having neither the strength nor motive for immediate 
conquest. 29 

The crystaiiization of sentiment for the immediate conquest of Canada 
about 1810-1812 was the result of the interaction of several factors. First 
the trouble with Spain over the West Florida question made war 
with that power imminent. Because of the alliance between Spain and 
Great Britain, it was generally felt that war with the former would in-
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volve the latter also.oo A second factor was the jealousy by Americans 
of the British for their domination of the Indian fur trade. 31 

A third factor was manifest destiny. This is usually supposed to have 
had its origin some two decades later. This belief and activating prin­
ciple that the American people were ordained to acqu ire and occupy more 
and more of North America was itself a complex matter resulting from 
the interaction of many factors: social, economic, patriotic, political, 
psychological, philosophica l, and perhaps evangelical. To touch briefly 
on only some of these facto rs, let us look first at certain C(onomic forces. 
The steadily increasing population of the United States plus its expand­
ing economy demanded an abundance of cheap land. Also the wasteful, 
unscientific use of land along the At!antic seaboard and the Piedmont 
regions soon exhausted the fertility of the soil and added increased pres­
su re for cheap virgin acres. Then, too, the typical pioneer was a rest­
less fellow, dri ven by hunger, ever on the move and ever search ing fo r 
new and more productive fields. In short, the people of the Uni ted 
States wanted more land, and in as advantageous locations as possible. 
The frontiersman of that period was accustomed to build his cabin of 
logs, to fence his clearings with rails split from logs, and to use wood 
fo r fuel. Hence the sparsely timbered prairies to the west did not ap­
peal to him. Also, the prai rie region was then too fa r from establish­
ed markets to provide feasible- outlets for his produce. The East was al· 
ready settled and over-crowded in the point of view of the pioneer. The 
western prairies did not appea l to him. Therefore expansion at that time 
necessarily meant going north or south. To the north lay Canada, and 
south lay Florida.82 

It is notable that in practically all cases the project of the annexation 
of Canada was inseparably linked with that of the acquisition of the Flor­
idas. Sectiona lism was a strong force, and the principle of a balance of 
power between the North and South was already well establ ished. There 
is some evidence that the expansion ists made a "deal" whereby each sec­
tion was to gain in approximately equal proportion and thus not disturb 
the balance of power. In other words, the annexation of the Floridas­
potentia l slave territory and eventual slave state or states- was to be bal­
anced by the acquisition of Canada-potential free terri tory and eventual 
free state or states wi th their representation in Congress and particu larly 
in the United States Senate where each State regardless of siZe or popu· 
lation is entitled to two Senators. Henry Clay of Kentucky was prob-
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ably the most influential advocate and certainly the most articulate an-l 
eloquent in promoting this dual expansion. H e dedared 

But I mllJt be permilll!d to (onclude by declaring my hope to Jee, 
ere long, the new United Stales- if y01l will allow me the expression 
- embracing not ollly the old thirteen States, bUI the elltire (O ullfry 
east of the Mhsissippi, including East Florida, and some 0/ the ler­
loriet to the north 0/ us aLJo.33 

W hen the Twelfth Congress convened just three days before Tippe­
canoe a group of new, relatively young members principally from the 
Carolinas, Kentucky and Tennessee gained control of the House of Rep­
resentatives and e1etted Clay Speaker. This group soon came to be 
known as the "\'{far Hawks"; they wa[lted war against Great Britain 
and boldly demanded immedi ate conguest of Canada. 34 

Probably most important factor of all promoting the des ire for Canada 
was the strong conviction that the British had entered into an unholy 
alliance with the savages and that the British were responsible fo r all 
the Indian difficulties in the Northwest, and more particularly the ac­
tivit ies of Tecumseh and the Prophet. The belief bc-came strong that the 
on ly way to pacify the frontier and to permit unrestrained expansion into 
the Northwest was to strike a decisive blow at Canada-to paralyze the 
nerve center of Indian opposition. 

The following quotation from the Democratic Press as printed in The 
IVar, a New York weekly, for Ju ly 18, 18 12 seems to express the gen­
eral sentiment: 

'lIVe do not walll Canada" say Jome . Granted. A man 
might not want to CIIdgel that which wa.r uplifted /0 Jtrike him. 
bTlt wO/lld he not therefore tndtallor 10 wreJl it from hiJ adversary ? 
U JlOl1, the British minister, Ol1ce declared, ill all ol/icial dispatch, 
that Britain" held Canada a.r a rod over the United Stalel' . 

Expressions of similar sentimen ts afe numerous. An editorial in the 
same issue of The IPar stated that ·'evidence of British activities among 
the Indians is so presumpti ve, that even the advocates of Britain do not 
venture longer to deny it" and that possession of Canada was necessary 
to OUf peace. The issue of July 4 contained an editoria l stating that "a 
peace that would leave Britain in possession of Canada would be worse 
than war." The National Intelligencer, (Washington) Carr ied an ac­
count of Canada in the issue of November 23, 18 11 , and stated that the 
account would be continued, the next installment dea ling with "water, 
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soi I, and production of Canadas- thc population and character of the 
inhabitants-their military strength, and their importance to the United 
States." The samc paper carried a contribution, in the issue of February 
22, 1812, by someone sign ing himself ··Common Sense" reading, "All 

agree that Canada must be ours; and it is, perhaps, essential to the future 
security and happiness of the United States that Canada should be<ome 
a part of them ." T he Fredoniall, a newspaper published at Circleville. 
Ohio, stated in the issue of May 2, 1812, ·'They (the British) must be 
for ever driven from all their possessions in America, and thei r good an.f 
faithful allies must be limited to thc country beyond the Mississippi, be· 
fore we can expect to enjoy the b lessings of peace." 

Finally, it was believed that the conquest of Canada would be easy al 
that time, as Britain was involved in the Napoleonic wars. l itt le resis­
tance from the Canadians was anticipated. In fact , it was confidently 
hoped that many Canadians would flock to the American standard once 
the invasion were started. The Ameri cans overlooked the fact that ~ 

considerable portion of the Eng lish-speaking Canadians were l oyalists or 
their descendants-refugees from the American Revolution with small 
Jove for the United States. 36 

Into this explosive sentiment on the frontier and in Congress came the 
news of Ti ppecanoe. The whole country was agitated.. Committees of 
public safety were orpnized along the front ier sentJernents, and Con · 
gress was petitioned for protection. The British were blamed for the 
outbreak, and war fever rose to a critical point.81 
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The Story of Camp Perry 
Baud on dll interview with Col. Harr, Harold Kerr 

By RANDOLPH C DOWN ES 

Camp Perry's story really begins with the lessons learned from the 
Spanish American W ar of 1898. That conflict was not very skillfu lly 
fough t by either side. Although the new American Navy conducted it­
self fairly well, a great many fl aws were revealed in the mi litary and 
naval set up of the United States. One of these fl aws was poor gunnery 
and marksmanship. The long American tradition of accuracy with firc­
arms, resulting from pioneer experience at hunting and Indian fighting, 
was wearing off. The result was that keenness of the average marks­
man 's eye was being dulled by inaction. In a naval respe<:t this defect re­
ceived world-wide notoriety in the battle of Santi ago when no serious 
hits were registered on the Spanish cruisers. That the American fleet 
won the battle was due to the fact that the enemy vessels, being made of 
wood, caught fire. One of those that escaped the American gunfire had 
to surrender because its (oal supply ran out. 

It was natural that naval and military men shou ld fee l the sting of this 
humiliation most keenly, and that they should propose to do something 
about it . One of these waSi Brigadier General Ammon B. Critchfield, 
Adjutant General of Ohio from 1904 to 1908. It b«ame General Critch­
field's main obj ective as Adjutant General and commander of the Ohio 
Nationa l Guard to improve the marksmanship of Ohio's soldiers. In his 
1904 report to Governo r Myron T. Herrick, Critchfield said, "It is my 
purpose to encourage, as far as possible, the qualifications in marksman­
ship whidl, it seems to me, is the highest attainment of a good soldier." 
In his 1905 report he pointed out that the figu re of merit for the Ohio 
National Guard team in the National Rifle Association matches fo r 1904 
was thirteen. "This," said the General, "seems almost humil iating." But 
he hastened to add, " It was better than that of many states:· 

As an aid to improvement of the situation, there was passed by 
Congress in 1903 the so·ca lled "Dick law," named after its author, Sen­
ator Charles Dick of Ohio. This law sought to remedy two defc<: ts re­
vealed in the Spanish-American War: one was the complete lack of co­
ordination between the militia of the several states; the other was the 
complete lack of integration and subordination of the mi litia to the reg-
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ular army of the United States. The Dick Law provided that the or­
ganization, armament, and discipline of the militia of the several states 
shou ld be the same as that of the regulars. A system of federal aid was 
sct up to promote this reorganization of the militia. In order to re­
ceive this aid state militia were required to participate in recognized 
practice rifle matches, or to go into camps of instruction for at least five 
days annually. or to assemble for drill or target practice at least 24 times 
a year. A system of Federal inspection was established. 

As General Critchfield sought to bring the Ohio National Guard into 
the benefits of this law, he ran against another snag. This was the 
opposition of the people of Newark, Ohio to the continued use of the 
srntc·s rifle range on thc outskirts of this growing city. In 1905 the 
land surrounding the range was being marked and laid out by real estate 
companies into residential lots. The presence of the rifle range, and the 
hazards to life and limb during the practice seasons, naturally had a de· 
preciating effect on property values. Moreover, the increased usc of 
high. power rifles, and the enlargement of the range required to receive 
benefits from the Dick Law. did not increase the good feelings of the 
people of Newark. Consequently, in 1905, notice was served on th'! 
state of Ohio that injunctions would be sought to prevent any furt her use 
of the rangc for rifle practice. 

This is where Camp Perry came into the picture. General Critchfield 
knew that the people of Newark were justified in their desire to be rid 
of rif le practice in their neighborhood. The General, therefore, took it 
upon himself to find a better location. Being a hunter nnd lover of 
rifles and shot guns, he found himself, during the hunting season of 
190~, at the Island House in Port Clinton, Ottawa County, Ohio. While 
hunting ducks in the marshy lowland bordering lake Erie, he was im· 
pressed with its remarkable adapt:lbility for a ri fle range. Except for a 
few farmers, who could e:lsily be persuaded to move away, the land was 
uninhabited. It was long. low and level, facing out into lake Erie. It 
was a n:ltural set up fo r shooting. especially since all diffcrent ranges­
thc 200 yards, the GOO yards, the 800 yards, and 1000 yards--could use 
a common firing line. In other words. rifle practice ·could go on at all 
ranges at the same time without undue hazards. Moreover, the shooting 
wou ld all be toward the north which was ideal from the point of view of 
light. 

And so General Critchfield returned from his hunting trip determin­
ed to go ahead. He got a board of military officers to inspect the area, 
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and add its endorsement . He !lIen went to the state legislature, and got 
it to appropriate S2~,000 to buy over 300 acres of land. This was in the 
spring of 1906. 

General Critchfield was jubilant, and set to work at once to buy the 
land, and "make it a model camp ground and rifle range." He brought 
Captain George Henry from the Newark camp to be superintendent of 
the new camp. Critchfield's boundless enthusiasm is reflected in his 
1906 report: 

IIY e feel con/idmt thaI there is nothing of the killd anywhere 
which mrpaJstJ it. The natllral conditiom are very favorable, the 
land if level and we Jhool north, giving a good Nght al/ day. The 
lake shore fIIJ1!· in a 1I0rlhweJI 10 sOlltheaJl direaion and Ollr para· 
pelJ are b"ilt in echelon, so thaI the shooling is done al al/ ranges 
from a common firing line, thus reducing 10 a minimum the elemMl 
of dallger . .. IVhM completed, I believe itfll;/! be 1IJ1!llfpa!!ed ally­
where ;n the world. 

It is at this point that "SilOdy" Kerr enters the caste as assistant super­
intendent to Captain Henry. "Sandy" was eventually to become Super. 
intendent in 1919, and to remain at that post unti l his retirement in 1949. 
But, in 1906, just before coming to the new camp, he was an overgrown, 
red-headed farm boy from Shreve, Ohio, with a pretty good cu rve which 
he used for a trolley league baseball club in Cleveland. He was sdled· 
uled to go south in 1907 for spring train ing with the Cleveland Indians 
baseball dub. Kerr had joined the National Guard at Shreve in 1900 
when he was 15, and was naturally aware of the pending change in the 
location of the rifle range from Newark to the Ottawa County location. 
He was also a friend and neigllbor of General Cri tchfield. T hese cir­
cumstances prevailed over his baseball ambitions, and March 15, 1907 
saw him riding into the new camp with six head of mules. From that 
day until September I , 1949 "Sandy" Kerr was part of Camp Perry, and 
Camp Perry was part of "Sandy" Kerr. 

The year 1907 was a big one in the camp's history. (It was officially 
named Camp Perry by legislative Act of May I, 1908 after Oliver Haz­
ard Perry, victorious commander of the American fl eet in the Battle of 
Lake Erie in 1813.) General Critchfield had promised the Nationa l 
Rifle Association that the camp would ~ ready fo r the shooting matches 
of L907. It was aJ$O planned that most of the summer militia encamp­
ments as re<Juircd by the Dick Law, be held at the new location. 
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There was a lot of work to do and the Critchfield-Henry-Kerr com­
bination was equal to the task. Part of the 200-yard and 600-yard ranges 
had been completed in 1906. By match time in 1907 the 200, 600, and 
800 yard ranges were ready with the necessary parapets and targets. There 
were 160 targets in all, arranged in echelon. (These were later greatly 
increased in number. ) To round out the equipment there were built a 
waterworks, a sewage disposal plant, and a quartermaster's warehouse. 
Another warehouse was made from a converted barn formerly owned by 
Wint Yeisley, one of the farmers whom the state bought out. At the 
same time the Clubhouse, or Squaw 's Camp, was built by the Ohio State 
Rifle Association at a cost of $40,000. This was for the use of the 
fami lies of the participants in the matches, as well as fo r those of the 
Guardsmen during the encampments. The $40,000 was raised from the 
various N ational Guard companies throughout the state. The result 
was that most of the state Nationa l Guard companies held their camps 
at the new grounds in July and August of 1907, with the National Rifle 
Association taking over fo r the matches in September. The WOO-yard 
range was not completed until 1910 after an additional purchase of land 
by the state. There was also a set of revolver ranges. By 1908 the rifle 
ranges wefe all equipped with telephones. 

One of the most difficult problems in the construction of Camp Perry 
was that of drainage. The land lay so close to Lake Erie, and the grade 
was so imperceptible that many said it could not be drained. It was 
easy to be discouraged by the desolate appearance of the land in its nat­
ural condition. Colonel Kerr says that when he arrived in 1907 he was 
impressed by the unimproved roads, crooked old rail fences, run-down 
buildings, manure piles larger than some of the old houses, ditdles, stand­
ing water full of cat-tails and desolate looking muskrat cabins. Gen­
eral Critdlfic!d was well aware of the problem as his 1907 report shows. 
''The soil," he said, " is of a sticky clay substance so that little rain makes 
it almost impossible to get about." That was putting it mildly, as every 
Joyal northwestern Ohioan knows. But it had been one of northwest 
Ohio's proudest achievements to make its swamps into the best farmland 
in the state. General Critchfield could do no less. He vowed, "We 
will get the camp so dry that the bullfrogs will have to carry canteens." 

It took many years, but the job of draining was done. The range was 
in good shape by 1925, and the rest of the camp by 1936. Key to the 
situation was a deep trench leading to the lake at the west border of the 
camp. This was so constructed as to prevent the overflow of water from 

28 



The Story of Camp Perry 

the private lands to the west from getting onto the camp. This, of 
course, greatly lcssened Ute amount of water to be drained from the camp 
itself. Just behind the 200·yard parapet on the rifle range a large basin 
was dredged into which all surface water was made to drain. From here 
it was pumped into Lake Erie via a tile drain. This arrangement insured 
a quick run·off of aIf the waters during the heavy rains-a service of ex· 
treme importance during the camp and match seasons. Thus were si" 
lenced the croakings of the critics and the bullfrogs. 

The work of maintenance and improvement is never ended. To pre· 
pare fo r the camp objective of caring for about 4,000 guardsmen at one 
time, it was necessary to construct the neccssary latrines and showers. This 
maximum capacity was reached in 1910. The troops, of cou rse, lived in 
tents, and had no hot water. 

The mess hall problem was another that went through a peru liar de· 
velopment. It was General Critchfield's idea that there should be one 
grand mess hall for the entire camp with cooking apparatus all in one 
unit. The contract for this building was given in 1909 to the Aiken 
Construction Company of Chicago fo r the surprisingly low figure of 
$16,000. This low figure was the result of a new idea of the Aiken 
Company. They had a system of jacks which allowed them to pour the 
concrete for the sides of the building as they lay flat on the ground. Af· 
ter the concrete had set the jacks were used to raise the sides into vertical 
position. Unfortunately the idea was all right WiUl the exception of the 
cost estimates. The company went bankrupt, and the State was obliged 
to take over the building and complete it at a cost of $42,000 even though 
using the unusual jacks. The State also built another warehouse in the 
same manner. Eventually the community mess hall had to be abandon­
ed. Too many cooks in one cooking unit spoil the mess. The result was 
that, in the 1920's 18 mess hall units were built so that each company 
could handle its own eating problem. 

Road building in such a low.lying area was another problem. In the 
beginning there were just plain dirt roads, almost impassable in wet 
weather. Sand from the lake shore was used for awhile, but this was 
little better. Eventually graded stone·based roads, with ditches connect· 
ed with the drainage system, relieved Camp Perry of some of its mud­
bound reputation. This, however, depended on transportation by lake 
and land that would enable large loads of stone from the Marblehead 
quarries to be brought in. Thus the building of a railroad spur, by the 
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New York Central in 1908, was of supreme importance, as was the 
building of a dock on the lake shore at about the same time. 

In more recent times many of the buildings and improvements, that are 
familiar to the visitors to Camp Perry today, were constructed. The 
W.P.A. program of the 1930's was essential to this work. Tn 1936 and 
1937 there was constructed at a cost of $70,000 the well-known Com­
mercial Center (popularly known as the Arcade) , the Theatre at a cost 
of $70,000, and the Administrative Building at a cost of .$ 50,000. All 
these were of brick construction. W .P.A. projects included the erecting 
of several utility buildings for storehouse, garage and motor repair pur­
poses. Storm sewers were laid out and a 300,000-gallon reservoir for 
clear water was constructed. It is estimated that between 1935 and 
1940 the sum of $800,000 was spent on such projects. 

Amicable relations with near-by Port Clinton have always been char­
acteristic of Camp Perry affairs. When the National Rifle AssociatiO!1 
Clubhouse went into the hands of receivers during World War I a group 
of Port Clinton businessmen, headed by Frank Holt and John Soren­
sen, paid off the indebtedness of $18,000 and carried the Clubhouse un· 
til the State of Ohio took it over in 1920. In the interim reliance was 
had on Port Clinton authorities for legal assistance involving protection 
of the Clubhouse from theft and damage. Port Clinton has always, of 
course, been an important point for camp supplies. In the days before 
improved roads to the camp, Dryman and Sorensen, Port Clinton mer­
dlants, delivered provisions by a small gasoline motor boat. In the fall 
of 1908 Camp Perry personnel took their teams and wagons to Port 
Clinton and helped improve the main road between the two points. Es­
pecially close were relations during the \'(T.P.A. days. From 700 to SOO 
men were employed daily on Camp projects. 

During war times Camp Perry took on a much more solemn appear­
ance. During World War I the usual National Guard work was sus­
pended, and the national government converted it into an Officers Train­
ing Center with General Critchfield as assistant camp commander. This 
was transferred to Fort Benning, Georgia after the War. (Sandy Kerr 
was an officer in Company H, 146th Infantry, sth Ohio Regiment serv­
ing in France through five battles including the Meuse·Argonne engage­
ment). After World War I a fleet of discarded army trucks became the 
mainstay of Camp Perry's transportation system. The United States 
Army again took charge during World War II when the camp was used as 
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a Reception Center for recruits, as an Ordnance Unit Training Center, 
a home station for a Military Police b.1ttalion, and as a Prisoner of War 
Camp for Ital ians and German captives. 

Camp Perry has served an honorable chapter in the mili tary and civilian 
his tory of the state and the nation. It is still known throughout the 
country for its annual shooting matches. Its magnificent and imposing 
ranges are a source of adm iration as well "as a mighty challenge fOr all 
true marksmen . 

Throughout its history two names stand out clearly and distinctly: 
General Ammon B. Critchfield and Colonel Hnrry Harold Kerr. The 
memory of General Critchfield lin~rs, not merely in the monument ncar 
the Arcade which he, himself, helped to dedicate, not only in the famil iar 
flags taff secured by him in 1908 from the old Atlantic gunboat and 
Great Lakes training ship Essex, but in the entire camp itself which is a 
product of his vision and efforts. And as for Colonel "Sandy" Kerr, there 
lingers in the minds of every man who bas trained, competed or worked at 
Camp Perry the memory of one who could inspire the admiration and 
affection of all because he has been and always will remain, in the truest 
sense of the words, an officer and a gentleman. 
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The Hayes Memorial Library 
fremont, Ohio 

By WAIT P. MARCHMAN 

The Hayes Memoria! Library in Fremont, Ohio, stands impressively at 
the main entrance to Spiegel Grove, the historic, wooded and beautiful 
25 -acrc estate of Rutherford B. Hayes, nineteenth President of the United 
States. A stone edifice of classic design fronted by four large columns, 
the building was constructed of native Ohio sandstone. TIle front wing 
was officially dedicated and opened to the public on Memorial D:ty, 1916; 
and the rear wing, the "library annex", was dcdicatnl at the (elebratia., 
held in Fremont on October 4, 1922, in honor of the 100th anniversary 
of the birth of President Hayes. 

The library was founded jointly by Colonel Webb C. Hayes, soldier, 
manufacturer, philanthropist and second son of Pr~sident Hayes, repre­
senting the Hayes family , and by the State of Ohio. The origin of the 
founding was in a deed of gift of Spiegel Grove to the State of 0I1 io for 
the Ohio State Archaeological and Historical Society. Conditions of the 
gift required that the estate should be maintained as a state park, and that 
the Society « .• • should secure the erection upon that par t of Spiegel 
Grove . .. conveyed to the State of Ohio fo r a state park a suitable fire­
proo f building on the site opposite the Jefferson Street entrance for the 
purpose of preserving and forever keeping in Spiegel Grove all papers, 
books, and manuscripts left by the said Rutherford B. Hayes;. . and the 
construction and decoration of the said building shall be in the nature of 
a memorial also to the soldiers, sailors, and pioneers of Sandusky County; 
.. . and said building shaH forever remain open to the public under prop­
er rules and regulations ... " I 

On historic ground, Spiegel Grove is liberaHy endowed with romance 
of the Western frontier. "Its history carries one back to a time long prior 
to the Revolutionary War," observed Ex-Governor of Ohio James E. 
Campbell, president of the Ohio State Archaeological and Historical So· 
ciety, in an address in 1920. " ... It is located in the old Indian Reserve 
or Free Territory, maintained at the lower rapids of the Sandusky river, 
now Fremont which was a point of interest long before the white man 
entered Ohio. Israel Putnam was here in 1764, and during the War of 
the Revolution over 2000 whites, captured by the Indians, passed through 
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the Sandusky Valley, stopping at the Lower Fal1s, now Fremont, from 
whence they were transported by shipping to Octroi! or on to Montreal. 
Zcisbcrger and Heckewelder, the Moravians, were prisoners here, and 
also Daniel Boone and Simon Kenton, Tn 1782 the British sent troops 
from Detroit as far as Lower Sandusky, en rOll te to repel the Crawford 
expedition, but they arrived too late, owing to the capture and burning 
of Crawford on the Sandusky Plains. During the war of 1812, through 
these very grounds, the old Harrison Trail- a military road which led 
from Fort Stephenson to Fort Seneca-passed and is preserved intact as 
its principal driveway ... " 2 through the estate. 

Spiegel Grove received its name from Sardis Birchard, pioneer mer· 
chant and banker of Fremont and bachelor uncle of Rutherford B. Hayes, 
who acqu ired the property from Jacques Hulburd in 1845. On his way 
to and from the little town of Fremont where he had his store, Sardis 
Birchard daily passed by his new property and, ir:lprcssed by its deep 
woods, the pools of standing water foHowing a rain which reflected like a 
mirror (Spiegel is the German word for mi rror) the grand old trees and 
tangled vines and undergrowth, he was reminded of the German fairy 
tales of his childhood, and named his property "Spiegel Grove." The 
name became a tradition. 

In IS59. Sardis Birchard laid the foundation fo r a residence on his 
property, intending it as the permanent home of his nephew who was 
then living in Cincinnati. He completed the house shortly before the 
outbreak of the Civil War but his nephew was soon to become actively 
engaged in the \'{Iar as an officer, then a Member of Congress, and later 
governor of the state, and would not occupy it unti l ISH, following his 
second term as governor. Sardis Birchard died in 1874, a few months 
after his nephew made his permanent home in Fremont. When Spiegel 
Grove became a memorial to President and Mrs. Hayes, the residence, pri. 
vately maintained and supported, remained as the officia l residence of the 
descendants of the President. 

The six gateways to Spiegel Grove are now memorial gateways, dedi· 
cated to Colonel George Croghan, successful defender of Fort Stephenson 
against the British; to General Ralph P. Buckland, state senator and the 
first pa rtner and lifelong fri end of Hayes; to William Henry Harrison 
and G rover Cleveland; to General James B. McPherson and Captain Sam· 
ual Thompson; and to Edgar Thurston, United States Army and George 
B. Meek, United States Navy, and to all the soldiers and sailors of San· 
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dusky County who lost their lives in the Spanish-American War and 
World War I. At each of the memorial entrances are heavy iron gates 
which formerly guarded entranCes to the White House during the Hayes 
administration, 1877-1881, and which were donated by an Act of Con· 
gress to the State of Obio for the Ohio State Archaeological and Histori­
cal Society in 1928. 

The trees, too, in Spiegel Grove-grand old oaks and maples- are in­

timately associated with personalities of the past. President Hayes in 1877 
began the custom of christening trees on his estate in honor of promi­
nent guests who came to visit at Spiegel Grove. There is the General 
W. T. Sherman elm and oaks named in honor of Generals W . S .. Rose· 
crans, E. P. Scammon, James M. Comly and Phil H. Sheridan . Other 
trees were christened for William McKinley, James A. Garfield, William 
Howard Taft and Grover Cleveland ; and there are trees bearing the 
names of Morrison R. Waite, Stanley Matthews, William A. Wheeler, 
Warren G. Harding, Newton D. Baker, and others. Each "named" tree 
has a sma ll bronze plaque of identification . 

On a quiet, wooded knoll by the side of the driveway which once 
was the busy Harrison Military Trail, and enci;;.sed by a modest iron 
fencc, i s the monument of Vermont granite, quarried from his father's 
fa rm at Dummerston, which marks the final resting place of the 19th 
President and of Mrs. Hayes. 

When the visitor enters the library building, he steps into an ante­
room, the atrium, around which eight large columns of Ohio sandstone 
form alcoves or recesses; and off the at rium, through east and west doors, 
are rooms which contain the private library of President Hayes, can. 
sisting of approximately 8,000 volumes arranged in locked mahogany 
bookcases with glass doors. The President "was a great reader and a 
man of scholarly tastes and attainments," said Ex-Governor Campbell in 
1920. .. His library of Americana was not excelled, in his time, by that 
of any other private individual in the nation. He had the instinct of a 
collector and preserved all papers and memoranda, both of his public and 
private life, in an orderly and accessible form."! More than 4,000 vol­
umes in the Presidential library pertain to American local and state his­
tory, arranged geographically, commencing with the New England states 
and the Atlantic seaboard, followed by the Southern states, the states of 
the Central West, the Plains, Rocky Mountains, the Pacific Coast, and a 
small collection on Canada, Mexico and Central and South America. Oth-
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er important sections are devoted to general American history, travel and 
description, the American Indian, American Revolution, War of 18 12, 
etc. 

In the east and west rooms, in addition to the Presidential library, rna}' 
be seen paintings of President and Mrs. Hayes, a number of Mrs. H ayes' 
gowns, including her wedding dress; and personal effects of the distin­
guished couple. 

The door to the main exhibit room is directly opposite the main en­
trance to the building. In this room are displays illustrating the life and 
contributions of the 19th President, his activities as It participant in the 
Civil War, his uniforms, etc., and of Mrs. Hayes. There are also ex­
hibits pertaining to the life and times of the library's founde r and sC(ond 
son of the President, Colonel Webb C. Hayes, and of his wife, Mrs. Mary 
Miller Hayes. On the floor below, in the basement display room, is pre­
served the Presidential carriage, a Studebaker Iandeau; many Indian relics 
presented to the chief executive by Indian delegations; weapons of all 
sorts and descri pt ions; and interesting and curiolls items collected from 
all parts of the world by Colonel and Mrs. Webb C. Hayes during thei r 
years of travel. 

The entire sC(ond floor of the bui lding is set aside for the rapidly ex­
panding referenCe· research library of American history. Here are collected 
Over 2;;,000 volumes pertaining principally to the period of American 
history between the Civil War period and the beginnmg of the 20th cen­
tury. The library'S printed collections are especially strong in books on 
the Civi l \'(far, Reconstruction, the American Negro and his problems, 
Southern history, cducation~ Civi l War veterans ~ffairs and pensions, 
economic history, labor problems, civil service reforms , prison reforms, 
Western travel, Ohio and local history, to mention a few sele<:tions. 

The manuscripts division is in a separate room eon the second floor. 
Here ate the invaluable Hayes Papers, forming the largest and most im­
portant of the numerous collections in the library, comprising many hun ­
dreds of thousands of individua l pieces. In the Hayes Papcrs are over 
7:'),000 letters received by President Hayes during his li fetime, preser\'­
ed intact; there arc his diaries in 28 volumes; thousands of letters written 
by him in response to letters received; 130 \'o lumes of his scrapbooks 
containing newspaper clippings; 17 volumes of abstracts of official let­
ters received during his administration, 1877·188 1 ; manuscript notes of 
his speeches, appointments, recommendations, etc. 
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The Papers of Mrs. Hayes, including her correspondence, are also pre­
served in the manuscripts division; and there are important collections of 
Sardis Bircha rd, the President's uncle; papers of his children, including 
the important collection of Colonel Webb C. Hayes; papers and diaries 
of his mother and father, Sophia Birchard Hayes and Rutherford Hayes, 
Jr.; and diaries and letters of his grandparents, Chloe Smith Hayes and 
Rutherford Hayes, Sr. 

The following are manuscript collections, in addition to the Hayes 
Papers, which may be of interest to the student, researcher or writer and 
historian: 

Journals of the Proceedings of the United States Senate in Exe(Utive 
Session, 1877-188t (6 volumes, manuscript, bound ) . 

Opinions of the Attorney General of the United States, January 
1M2-April 1846 (2 volumes, manuscript, bound ) . 

General George Crook Collfftion, Letters sent, 1871· 1890 (2 vol· 
umes, manuscript copies, bound). 

Several collections of letters, reports, maps, etc. on the Civil War, 
1861·1865. Manuscripts, unbound. 

Mary Clemmer Ames Correspondence, 1859·1881. 
General B. F. Coates Letters, 1860·1885. 
Colonel F. W. Swift, of Michigan, 1862· 1890. 
Henry M. Cist to Walter R. Benjamin, Letters, 1889-1891. 
George William Curtis Collection, 1876- 1885. 
Wi ll iam Henry Smith Collection ; 
White House Correspondence, 1860-1875. 
Emma Foote Glenn l etters, 1877- 1881. 
Military Order of the Loyal Legion. 

and others. 

There are also important collections of letters to and from the follow­
ing prominent men in public affairs: William M. Eva rts, James A. Gar· 
field, U. S. Grant, Andrew Johnson, Abraham Lincoln, James Monroe, 
Stanley Matthews, John Sherman, William T. Sherman, Carl Schurz, Wil­
liam McKinley, and others. 

Collections of interest to students of Ohio and loul history include: 
Jay Cooke and Pitt Cooke Papers, 1838·1875, 1905. 
General Ralph P. Buckland Letters; 
Charles Foster Letters. 
James M. Comly Letters. 
A. L. Conger Papers, 1878-1898. 
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T he Stem Papers, including correspondence of James B. McPherson. 
Papers of James B. Fin ley and tbe W yandott Mission at Upper 

Sandusky, 1821·1828, including a d iary of Finley's trip 10 
Upper Sandusky, 18 10. 

G. A. Gessner Collection, 1864·1911. 
John B. Rice Papers, 1861 ·1897. 

James W . W ilson Collection, 1835· 1886. 
T rommer Extract of Ma lt Company Papers. 1875·1890. 

l ucy Elliot Keeler Collc<:tion, includ ing diaries. scrapbooks, 1881· 
1929, and several collections on Sandusky County history. 

The manuscript division also contains numerous sma ll collections, of 
which the fo llowing are a selection: l etters of James G. Blaine. H . S. 
Bundy, John C. Calhoun, W illiam E. Chandler, Salmon P. Chase, Henry 
Clay, Schuyler Col fax, George Croghan, Henry Dearborn, Ral ph Waldo 
Emerson, Millard Fillmore, Horace Greeley, Duff G reen, Alexander 
H amilton, Wade Hampton, Jobn Hancock, William Henry Harrison, 
Patrick Henry, Samuel Houston, Robert G . Ingersoll, Thomas Jefferson, 
J. Warren Keifer, William Lawrence, Francis Lieber, A. H. McGuffey, 
George H. Pendleton, W . K. Rogers, Russell Sage, Samuel Shellabarger, 
Francis E. Spinner, Charles Sumner, Al phonso Taft, Zachary Taylor, 
George H. Thomas, Edward Tiffin, N athan Towson, Benjamin F. Wade, 
H. Walbridge, Josiah W. W are, George Washington, Daniel Webster. 
Elisha Whittlesey, and otbers. 

The Hayes Memorial Library is continually increasing its collection of 
microfilm which now contains files of the Fremont New/·MeJJenger, 
1944 to date ; tIle Washington Post, 1876· 1881; the N ew York Tribune, 
1815·1877; the Index to the New York Timn; and other files. Film 
copies of manuscripts in public or private deposi tories, dissertations and 
theses, rare books, etc, which pertain to the library'S field of specialty, 
have been secu red for the microfilm collection. A fi~m reader is available 
fo r the convenience and use of the researcher. 

Other resourccs of the library incl ude a newspaper section with files 
of a few important newspapers, preserved by President Hayes, and an 
excellent file of local newspapers beginning in 1839; and small collections 
of atlases, maps, and photographs and pictures. 

General or special stud ies and investigations in American history of the 
post·Civil War era are encouraged by the Rutherford B. Hayes and Lucy 
Webb Hayes Foundation, a resea rch foundation established in 1921 by 
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Mr. and Mrs. Webb C. Hayes, I, and endowed by them. Headquarters 
of the Foundation is at the Library. Studies involving the problems fac· 
ing Hayes as President, and projects on his life and accomplishments 
which illustrate or illuminate his place in American history, are, of course 
of primary interest to the trustees of th~ Foundation. 

Students, investigators, historians and writers are finding at the Hayes 
Memorial Library a wealth of materials readily available to them for con· 
sultation, and the library is steadi ly becoming a center for research into 
that period of American history between 1865 and 1900. 

FOOTNOTES 

l. Third or Trusl Deed by Webb C. Hayes, published in C. R. Williams, Diary 
and LellerJ 0/ Rllther/ord B. Hal's, V, 28 1 ·28~ . 

2. Lucy Ell iot Keeler, "Unveiling of the Soldiers' Memorial Tablet on the Haye$ 
Memorial Building al Spiegel Grove," in Ohio State Archaeological and His· 
IOricai Qua.u ,ly. vol. 29 (October 1920), pp. 308·309. 

3. Ibid., p. 311. 

38 



j 

Sherwood Anderson 
The Cleveland Year, 1906-1 907 

By W I LLIAM A. SUTTON 

In the latter par t of 1903, Sherwood Anderson had written into his 
" Rot and Reason" column! under a section titled "Men That Are Want· 
ed" a category induding "Men that fee l as though they would like to 
take hold of the rudder and run a business for themselves." \'>Vhen he 
went to Cleveland on Labor Day, 1906, 2 to become president of The 
United Factories Co., he was on the road to getting a business of his 
own. 

Anderson was taken into the cornp:my as "new li fe." He was made 
president but really shared the power with Mr. George A. Bottger, who 
had been genera l manager. As an advertising man he was su pposed to 
bring the mail-order concern out of the doldrums.~ According to Mr. 
Bottger, Anderson's special provinces were sales and advertising, in which 
work he had had experience while with the Long-Critchfield agency in 
Chicago. In fact, the opportunity to join United Factories had come to 
Anderson as a result of his work on United Factories "campaigns" whi le 
with Long·Critchfield.4 

Mr. Bottger says further that Anderson came to United Factories with 
a $25,000 2-year dream."~ " He wanted to come to Cleveland and Unit­
ed Factories. He came at a sa(rlfice an d just after the company had suf­
fered a considerable loss in an unfortunate venture. He had been p:dd 
well by Long-Cri tchfi eld." To understand fu lly what Anderson may 
have had in mind when he went to Un ited Factories, one has to know 
a little more of the kind of enterprise it was. The key words in its 
name, "United Factories", really explain it. The idea was to make one 
company the mail·order outlet for a number of factories, producing all 
types of merchandise. In a 24.page "Roofing C:Ltalog," whidl contains 
a price-list dated October I, 1906, there arc mentioned catalogues for ve­
h icles, buggy tops and repa irs, stoves, incubators, agricultural implements, 
and paints, any of which might be obtained by sending in a card with 
one's name and address. That means the company was dealing in pro­
ducts of seven types and perhaps from seven different manufacturers. 
"W e wanted to mak!,! of ou r company in fact what it was in name, a unit­
ed factories company . Anderson and Ed. Cray (who had a considerable 
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financial interest) traveled over quite a territory talking to manufactur· 
ers in the hope of interesting a group of manufacturers in this kind of 
arrangement." "Anderson had some very big ideas for a factory com· 
bine. The scheme failed for lack of a head. Each factory wanted to be 
boSS."6 

During the year he was with the company, one gathers, Anderson was 
in charge of selling the goods made by factories already using the com· 
pany as an outlet and was helping to promote the company's basic scheme. 
One of his duties was to prepare catalogues of merchandise sold by his 
company. This he did, if one may take the. "Roofing Catalog" mentioned 
earlier as a fair sample, in such a way as to make himself the symbol and 
representative of the company in its relation with the customer who read 
the catalogue. One whole page in the "Roofing Catalog" is reserved for 
a picture of Anderson, one which had appeared earlier in Agrimltllral 
AdvertiJillg, and a statement entitled "My Word to You" and signed by 
Anderson as president of the company. 

In his pledge or "word·' Anderson had struck the note he was to con· 
tinue to use when he started his own business in Elyria. The approach 
was to convince the buyer that United Factories was a company that did 
everything honestly and was designed only to serve the customer: 

[ promiJe as a decent man trying to be Jqllare thai every man, 
rirh or poor, JmaU or large, Jhal! have a Jqtlare deal from my com· 
pany. 

Every word of thiJ book WdJ written tinder my Jupervision, and 
for it I am reJpoJlJibie to you. 

AJ you and I may never meet fact to face I give you my word now 
thaI what is written in thiJ book if tme in Jpirit and in fart. 

I Jtand ready to do what iJ right by you, the buyer, and if you at 
any tune buy anything of the fac/orin whoJe goodJ are sold throtlgh 
otlr ratalogueJ, and if )"011 are 11of falisfjed, yotl can feel free about 
fakillg the matter up with me perJonally, and I promiJe you that [ 
will not delegate the matter to a clerk or pile up words to confllJe 
you, but will JatiJfy y01/ with what '1011 have bought or retllrn every 
penny of yOllr money no matter what we lote by jt .7 

In the above statement Anderson said every word of the catalogue was 
written under his supervision . So it seems reasonable to presume that 
the statement of the basic selling argument on the fi rst page of the "cata· 
log" was written by Anderson. As such, it seems woeth including here. 
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It has all the simplicity and candor that became d laracteristic of his ad­
vertising: 

/Ull tet Ul reason Ihil maJJer out for a momenl. 
The average jobber to live mUJt make from 10 to 25 per cent on 

the goodJ he bllyJ from the manufacturer. 
The average uI11Ieiing man reeeivel a lalary of from $25.00 /0 

$50.00 per week and from $25.00 fO $50.00 peT week more, for ex­
penses for Jelling the goods handfed by the jobber to the dealer. 

The average loral dealer makeJ from 25 to 100 per rent on ever,­
thing he paJJes over hiJ counter. 

1t COJ/J UJ but a ver)' few penniel to pUI Ihis catalogue into )'our 
hands. 

For IIJ the calalogue is jobber, 'rl11leler and dealer. It works for us 
(.l/ld workJ JO cheaply thai there iJ 110 wonder we fall give )'ou a bet­
ler qualily of goodJ alld slill Jave lIIoney for yOf/ . 

Local dealers may talk blll the f.ut remaim that the "straight from 
the faclory way" of doing busilless hal COnTe to slay. It h logical, ;t 
is right and it is economical. 

The Ullited Factories Company, Ihen, is JUJt laking advantage 0/ 
the lift/ation. W e expect /0 make a living profit on Ilihal we Jell, 
hUI we call do this and give YOll a bigger dollar'J worlh than you call 
get any place elJe. 

The tone of both of the statements quoted was obviously intended to 
make the customer, usually the farmer, trust the company and look upon 
it as a beneficial institution doing away with "midd le-men" and unneces­
sary high prices. Naturally, people took Anderson at his word and wrote 
in when they had complaints. Not the least of his jobs was the han­
dling of the "trouble" correspondence. 

Anderson fired more people than the company (oll fd ever have 
hired. He had to anJwer letterJ of complaint and waJ comtantly fir . 
ing the penoll respomible jor the C/lJtomer's complaint. He IIlaJ 
really mild-mannered and never llIot/!d have lired any one.s 

Perhaps the greatest amount of «complaint" mail was received as the 
result of a disastrous experience in the spring of 1907 with an incubator 
" line", wbich Anderson himself bad introduced to the company. While 
be bad worked for l ong·Critchfield, he bad handled advertising for an 
incubator-manufacturer in Illinois. When he became associated with 
United Factories, he induced the incubator-manufacturer to use his com­
pany as an outlet. The crux of the matter was that the particular incu· 
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bator United Factories marketed was defectively manufactured; though this 
was not Anderson's fault , he did handle the contract with the manufac­
turer. Of 3,200 sold 600 were returned. "We lost thousands of dollars 
and wound up in a law suit. That disturbed. his reb,tionship here.'" Mr. 
Bottger says this failure, which was really due to bad faith on the part 
of the manufacturer, was a heavy blow to Anderson . Not only was his 
dream of success for the business being shattered, but also his mail was 
unsatisfactory. The correspondence concerning the return o f all those in­
cubators must have been both distasteful and interminable. Doubtless a 
circumstance of this sort may J1ave brought on the condition which led 
Mr. Schaad to observe, "When I considered the pace he was going and 
the number of cigarettes he smoked, I didn't think that fellow would last 
five years. He seemed very nervous." 

The preparation of the catalogues and other advertising matter for the 
company, which appeared chiefly in farm journals, with his correspon­
dence occasioned Anderson's doing a lot of writing. Mr. Bottger has 
characterized him as a -'very brilliant writer." "He could write on any 
subject. It didn't make any difference whether he had any knowledge of 
the subject:- One presumes that would be a handy achievement for an 
advertising man. But Mr. Bottger thinks Anderson was inclined then 
toward being a story-teller, too. Anclerson related many of his early 
experiences to Mr. Bottger but apparently did not mention anything he 
had written in the Chicago period (1 900- 1906) . 

Anderson was made president of United Factories for one year. The 
assumption is that what occurred during that year was to form a basis for 
any new arrangement at the end of the yea r. One (an not be sure of all 
the reasons for Anderson's leaving to go into business for himsdf late 
in the summer of 1907 10 but several of them seem appa rent. One re­
calls the debacle of the incubators. That "disturbing" factor was still a 
fresh memory for Mr. Bottger 35 years later. Then, too, all three in­
formants II are in agreement that Anderson 's knowledge of office routine 
was deficient. As Mrs. Puchta put it, " He could layout the work but 
was not used to being con fined to details of office work:' Finally, An· 
detson was very likely anxious aU along to get a business of his own. 
Apparently he got a chance, just as his year with the Cleveland com· 
pany was ending, and took it. 

Perhaps one should not leave consideration of Anderson's business li fe 
in Cleveland before recording the impression he made on the office-sec-
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retary.12 He dictated easily and seemed to know and like his work. A 
neat dresser, he seemed well-read and well-educated, always used good 
language, never forgot "to be gallant." A "good-looking, dark, mature" 
man, he always had a smile no matter how hard the work was. In fact, 
his pleasantness always made the secretary feel willing to work for him. 
He had a good, hearty laugh; he laughed when other men smiled. "He'd 
always kid with you when you came to the desk. " 

Of Anderson's home life a brief but interesting glimpse may be ob­
tained. Mr. Bottger has implied that Mrs. Anderson knew about, was 
interested in, and helped with some of the work Anderson had to do. 
"Sherwood gave her credit at that time at least for helping him with his 
writing. I believe she edited some of his stuff, for he was not well-edu· 
cated." Mrs. Anderson also undertook to teach Bottger and Anderson 
French on Sunday mornings. M e. Bottger still recalls a couplet he 
learned in one of the limited number of lessons. "She was interested in 
improving our education . 1 didn't have much and he (did) not (have 
much) in that line." " 1 thought she was a very capable and well ·edu­
cated person." 

Mr. Bottger recalls that the "home relationship" of the Andersons was 
"very pleasant" and that they lived in an "old house on Lamont Ave­
ue."la The other, later Anderson residence in Cleveland was at 83 10 

Cedar Ave. A friend 14 has described the two houses in which they lived 
as "run down" but having a "pleasant atmosphere." 15 Anderson's wife, 
Cornelia, according to Mr. Maxter, was a casual housekeeper, the intel­
lectual side perhaps dominating the domestic a little. One further item 
concerning the family life of the Andersons in Cleveland may be added: 
"They were active here in some church. 1 was there one Sunday moen· 
ing, and Sherwood was all dolled up in morning clothes and top hat." 16 

The Cleveland year was a heavy one for Anderson. He was at least 
titular head of a mail-order business, responsible for a considerable por­
tion of its operation. Doubtless, the experience was very valuable to 
him when he made preparation to go into his own business at the end of 
the summer. But his new business was not his ollly concern as the sum· 
mer drew to a close. On August 16, 1907, the first child of Sherwood 
and Cornelia Lane Anderson, Robert Lane Anderson, was born at the 
Maternity Hospital at 2364 E. '5'5 St. in Cleveland. l7 
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FOOTNOTES 

1. At,ritNltNfTAdllnlisint" DecWlber, 1903, X :I,. 
2. Statement of Mr. George A. Bottger, Cleveland, Ohio, who was secretary­

treaSl,Irer of the company during Anderson's year as president. Most of the in­
formation about the Cleveland period was obtaine<!. ill an interview with Mr. 
Bottger. 

3. Mrs. Wm. Puchta, OC""eland, Ohio, who was stenoyaphcr for the firm dl.lring 
Anderson's stay, in an interview. 

4. Mr. Bottger. 
,. In Sherwood Andenon'S Memoirs, Harcourt, Brace, and Co., New York, 1942, 

p. 206, he mentiolloo Ihe time "when, with a good deal of beating of drl.lffiS, 
I had gone off 10 Ohio to become a rich man."' 

6. M r. Bottger. 
7. This statement appear, in the United Facto ries Co. "Roofing Catalog."' The 

catalogue is in the jX)Ssession of the author. 
8. Mr. E. O. Schaad, Cleveland, Ohio, who worke<!. for the company dl.lring 

Anderson's presidency, in an intervil"W. 
9. Mr. Bottger, who is still in The United Fa(IOries Co. 

10. Mr. Bottger. 
II. Mrs. Pu(hta, Mr. Schaad, Mr. Bottger. 
12. Mrs. Puchta. 
13. 97 1 I Lamont Ave. was Ihe address Mrs. Cornelia Anderson gave the Alumnae 

Association of the College for Women at Western Reserve in 1906. 
14. Mr. Edwin C. Baxter, Cleveland, Ohio. Interview. 
15. It may be noted here that the Cedar Avenue address was, and the Lamont 

Avenl.le address still is, on the east side of Cleveland in a middle·da$$ neigh­
borhood. 

16. Mr. Bottger. 
17. Files of the Department of Health, Ci ty of Cleveland. 
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